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We heard the employer’s appeal of the Reemployment Benefits Administrator Designee’s (RBA Designee) decision finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits in Anchorage, Alaska on September 18, 2008.  Attorney Benjamin R. Crittendon represented the employee.  Paralegal Steven E. Nelson represented the employer.  We closed the record at the hearing’s conclusion.

ISSUE

Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in determining the employee eligible for reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d-f)?  

SUMMARY OF THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

We address six specific arguments -- five by Employer and one by Employee.  In support of its position that the RBA Designee abused her discretion, Employer argued:

1) The RBA Designee erroneously relied upon a physician assistant’s (PA) predictive opinions concerning Employee’s permanent physical capacities and potential permanent partial impairment (PPI) pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e) & (f)(4).
2) The RBA Designee erroneously concluded Employee was not previously rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(3).
3) The RBA Designee failed to consider Employer’s post-injury offer of light duty employment pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(1). 

4) Substantial evidence does not support the accuracy of Employee’s 10-year work history pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e)(2).
5) Employee violated AS 23.30.250 by knowingly concealing employment within his relevant 10-year work history.
Employee argued generally that the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and Employer failed to meet its burden of proof.  Employee suggested he would be amenable to a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) if the Board chose to order one on the PPI dispute, thus raising Employee’s ancillary argument:
6) The Board should order an SIME on the PPI dispute.
CASE HISTORY AND EVIDENCE SUMMARY


We reviewed the entire Board file but only those facts relevant to the issues pending before the Board or those needed for a basic factual understanding are summarized.  On April 3, 2002 a Board panel approved a “Compromise and Release” (C & R) in an unrelated case involving Employee’s left knee and low back.
  Employee, unrepresented, had previously been found eligible for vocational rehabilitation.
  In that C & R Employee waived his right to a compensation rate adjustment, permanent total disability (PTD), and all §041 vocational rehabilitation benefits.
  

In the instant case, Employee was injured on or about January 24, 2007 while at work for the employer.
  The event leading to the injuries is not disputed.  Employee was underneath a “cat train,” lying on the ground performing his duties when the cat operator started moving the train.
  A “cat train” is a group of portable buildings on skids chained together to move using a piece of heavy equipment.  In an effort to scramble out from underneath the cat train and avoid being crushed, Employee “bent [his] head and neck and rolled out.”
  In doing so, Employee alleges he injured his neck, shoulder, and “face” -- specifically his eye glasses and dentures.
  Employee broke his glasses, cut the inside of his mouth, and damaged his dentures.  The event happened very quickly but Employee thought he was hit on the right jaw, and “maybe caught a little at the top” of his head.  He believes his arctic cold weather “mouthpiece” was jammed and may have hit and broken his dentures.
  Employee’s adrenaline was pumping and he is not sure what he hit or how he got hit but he knew he “got a good hit.”
  Someone brought his glasses to him; the frame was bent and broken, and one of the lenses had been popped back into place.
  Employee discovered while eating the next day that his dentures were cracked because they broke as he was chewing.
  


Employer representatives took Employee to its physician at Dimond Medical Clinic.  On January 29, 2007 T. Ligus, M.D. opined that Employee suffered a work-related cervical strain, which was the direct result of his work duties.  Dr. Ligus restricted Employee from all work until he was rechecked on February 2, 2007.
  Either that same day or the next day another physician at Dimond Medical Clinic, Charles Manwiller, M.D., completed a certificate listing both physicians’ names and two dates (“1/29 - 30/07”).  This form contradicted Dr. Ligus’ first certificate’s total restriction from work and listed “activities/duties” that Dr. Manwiller felt Employee was “capable of performing at this time.”
  These included “walking, sitting, standing, small instrument repair, paperwork, computer entry, module training, telephone/radio monitoring” but restricted all of the above duties to “no lifting over 5#.”
  Dr. Manwiller also recommended physical therapy (PT) to the cervical spine.
  Dr. Manwiller in another form accompanying this certificate referred Employee to United Physical Therapy, stated “limited duty at work in Anchorage,” and echoed Dr. Ligus’ request for Employee to return for recheck on February 2, 2007.  Dr. Manwiller also completed a “Work Limitations” form dated January 30, 2007 that said Employee could resume “modified work” activities immediately but limited those to “[l]ifting, pushing, pulling not to exceed 5 pounds” and “[b]ending or twisting not to exceed 2 times per hour.”  Employee was to also avoid “sharp turning of head.”

Employee sought treatment at Rainbow Medical Clinic with Stephen Shortridge, PA who, on February 15, 2007, stated Employee was “unable to work@ this time” and restricted him from all work and deemed him not medically stable.
  Employee attended PT with First Choice at PA Shortridge’s request beginning March 20, 2007and continuing through November 16, 2007.

On September 13, 2007 Employee saw Ilmar Soot, M.D., at Employer’s request for an EME.
  Dr. Soot opined that the January 24, 2007 injury was the substantial cause of Employee’s need for neck treatment “at this time” but expected it would not be the substantial cause “after a year.”
  Dr. Soot felt there was no contemporaneous medical record indicating the need for new glasses arose from this injury or that the work injury was “definitely ‘the substantial cause’” of his need for dentures.
  Dr. Soot opined that Employee needed additional conditioning, his injury brought on his cervical strain and rotator cuff tendinitis, was the substantial cause of his “present limitations” and history of needing treatment, but felt the aggravation would be temporary.
  Employee was not medically stable and Dr. Soot felt it would not be in Employee’s best interest to return to work in the same type of employment that he had held.
  Employee, if he returned to the same type of work, very likely would need additional PT, potentially would need trigger point or epidural steroid injections, and possibly would even need surgery if neurological deficits became a problem.
  Employee needed no additional diagnostic studies.

On January 3, 2008,
 Employee filed a request for a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation.  On January 4, 2008, technician Fannie Stoll wrote the insurer to inquire if Employee had been off work for 90 consecutive days because of his occupational injury.
  On January 7, 2008, the adjuster responded that Employee had been off work since “2/15/07.”
  On January 23, 2008, Ms. Stoll wrote Employee advising him that since he had been off work for 90 days and compensability of his claim did not appear to be in dispute, rehabilitation specialist Forooz Sakata was assigned to perform a vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation.
  On February 21, 2008, Employer provided Ms. Sakata with unspecified medical records, Social Security records, and past vocational records regarding Employee for her use in the evaluation.

On February 21, 2008 Employee saw Dr. Soot for another EME.
  Dr. Soot’s impressions included cervical spondylosis, pre-existing; secondary, superimposed, work-related cervical strain, resolved; and rotator cuff tendinitis, work-related, resolved.
  He opined that the results of the January 24, 2007 injury to the neck and the shoulder had resolved and the work injury was no longer “the substantial cause” of the current diagnoses.
  The pre-existing spondylosis was the main cause of his ongoing neck and shoulder problems even though Employee had not returned to “pre-injury status” primarily because of his underlying degenerative condition in his neck that is “predictably going to be an ongoing problem.”
  Employee was medically stable with no measureable PPI pursuant to the AMA Guides 5th Edition as the result of this work-related injury.
  He needed no palliative care and no additional medical care of any kind for the work-related injury.
  Dr. Soot could make no definitive statements concerning Employee’s honesty in responses to a pre-employment health questionnaire.

On March 19, 2008, Ms. Sakata emailed Veritas and inquired whether or not it had “anything within light capacity should his physician release him to light duty.”
  On that same date Veritas employee Lydia Rollins emailed Ms. Sakata and responded the “short answer is no.”  She said Veritas had offered Employee “modified duty” when “this initially happened” but he did not “cooperate.”
  Ms. Rollins stated “[w]e do not want him back” and Veritas “will have no positions open for anyone very soon since the season is about to shut down.”

On April 1, 2008, Ms. Sakata completed her evaluation and recommended, based upon PA Shortridge’s opinions, that the RBA find Employee eligible for reemployment benefits.
  On April 25, 2008, RBA Designee Deborah Torgerson wrote Ms. Sakata that she could not determine eligibility because a PA rather than a “physician” had made various predictions required by AS 23.30.041.
  In response to this letter Employer on May 21, 2008 provided Ms. Sakata with a copy of Dr. Soot’s February 21, 2008 IME report.
  As discussed above, Dr. Soot listed his diagnoses and determined that none were related to the injury subject of this claim.  Employee was medically stable and had no work-related PPI.  Dr. Soot also commented on various job descriptions apparently gleaned from an unrelated 2002 injury file, approving some and disapproving others.
 
On May 15, 2008, Scott Mackie, M.D., Medical Director of Rainbow Medical Clinic where PA Shortridge worked, wrote that he had reviewed PA Shortridge’s care and treatment of Employee for his work injury and opined that Employee had “incomplete recovery of full function” and opined he probably may have “some degree of permanent partial disability.”
  Dr. Mackie recommended an “Independent Medical Evaluation” to determine if this was the case, and if so, to determine its degree and scope.
  He recommended Alaska Spine Institute as the place “where this would be best done.”

On May 22, 2008, Ms. Torgerson wrote Employee stating the RBA had decided a PA could make the required predictions pursuant to AS 23.30.041 after all.
  Referring to Ms. Sakata’s April 1, 2008 evaluation, Ms. Torgerson found the employer had offered the employee no alternative, lighter work.  She found PA Shortridge had predicted Employee would suffer a permanent partial impairment from his injury and found Employee had never been rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim.  Ms. Torgerson also found Veritas could not offer Employee “physically appropriate work.”  Based on the medical opinion of Mr. Shortridge, information obtained from Employer, and Employee’s work history, she found Ms. Sakata recommended Employee be found eligible for reemployment benefits.
  Accordingly, based upon Ms. Sakata’s report the RBA Designee on May 22, 2008 found Employee eligible for reemployment benefits.
  On May 28, 2008 Employee elected to receive reemployment benefits.
  

On May 29, 2008 Employer filed a petition appealing the RBA Designee’s determination that Employee was eligible and on the same day filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on its petition.
  The matter was set for hearing and the July 10, 2008 prehearing conference summary listed as issues for the hearing: “ER’s 5/29/08 Petition” and Employee’s “6/17/08 Answer.”

On July 21, 2008, Ed Barrington, D.C. provided a 6th Edition Guides PPI rating for Employee at the request of Employee’s attorney Mr. Crittendon.
  Dr. Barrington reviewed medical records, took a history, and performed an interview and evaluation.
 His impression included a stable cervical strain with residual muscle guarding and restricted range of motion (ROM); right shoulder loss of ROM secondary to strain and a possible labral injury; and right hand paresthesias of unknown origin.
  Dr. Barrington opined Employee had two ratable impairments -- his residual cervical strain and his right shoulder strain with possible internal injury.
  Dr. Barrington gave 3% whole person impairment for the cervical issue and 7% for the shoulder for a total whole person PPI rating of 10%.
  He felt Employee’s right hand numbness is a “symptom relative to this injury” but difficult to diagnose.
  He suggested an EMG/NCS
 for that problem and a right shoulder MRI that “may be beneficial in his ongoing treatment.”
  
WITNESS TESTIMONY

Rick Trupp: Employer’s witness Rick Trupp is a Veritas employee and serves as its “permits and regulatory coordinator.”  He testified that Veritas had offered light duty work to Employee in an “Injury/Illness Management Contract” dated “1/30/07,” six days after Employee’s January 24, 2007 injury.  Mr. Trupp was not Employee’s supervisor, did not talk to Ms. Sakata about job opportunities post-injury, and though Employee did not agree to the injury management contract, Veritas had no time limit or deadline for him to do so.  Mr. Trupp stated Employee told him he wanted a friend or an attorney to review the contract before he signed it.  He further testified that the contract provided unspecified employment with no specific job title or description, which was “short, short term” employment.  Mr. Trupp described mostly “training” opportunities contemplated for Employee with the “injury management contract.”

Mr. Trupp testified that had Employee accepted the offered employment he would have initially been an expediter picking up people and supplies that needed to go the “slope.”  Or, he would have done some office work and viewed training videos.  Mr. Trupp was unaware of any other Veritas offer of employment made for Employee.

George Stackhouse: We relied on Mr. Stackhouse’s deposition testimony.  Employee admitted in his deposition that in the ten years prior to his injury he had worked for himself and others in a “demobbing business” and did basically whatever “it takes to make money.”
  He admitted he does not file income tax returns.
  Employee made an effort to recall for whom he worked during the relevant period in response to defense counsel’s questions.
  

At hearing Employee testified he recalled speaking with Ms. Sakata on two occasions and upon further questioning was sure he had discussed his past “under-the-table” employment with her.  He described the type of work he had done in the relevant time frame and tried to recall the names of his prior employers.  Employee explained his current employment and noted he would be getting laid off soon.  Employee testified he had never been through a vocational rehabilitation plan.

EMPLOYER’S ARGUMENTS


At hearing, Employer offered several bases for the RBA Designee’s alleged abuse of discretion: 1) she could not rely upon a PA’s opinions, 2) she incorrectly found Employee had not been rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim, 3) Employer had made a disqualifying job offer pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(1), 4) Employee’s 10-year work history upon which the RBA Designee had relied was inaccurate, and 5) Employee had intentionally committed §250 fraud by “concealing” his relevant work history from Ms. Sakata.  Employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion and violated its due process rights by determining Employee eligible for reemployment benefits without more information.  Employer asks us to reverse the eligibility determination and remand the case back to the RBA.  Employer directs our attention respectively to Board decisions in Hottman v. Channel 2
 on issue one, admitted there was an unidentified Board decision contrary to its position on issue two, Gardner v. Country Foods
 on issue three, Hooker v. Carr-Gottstein,
 Gardner and Cook v. Assets
 on issue four, and Shehata v. Salvation Army
 and Foster v. Aspoetis Construction
 on issue five.
  In its brief and in closing arguments Employer argues Dr. Barrington was not a valid referral for a PPI rating under AS 23.30.095(a).

EMPLOYEE’S ARGUMENTS

Employee’s brief focused primarily on the PA issue.  Employee argued that the Supreme Court’s Thoeni v. Consumer Electronics
 decision resolved the PA issue and further noted he now has a PPI rating from a chiropractor that could not have been obtained any earlier and that PPI rating moots the first issue.  Employee argued he could not perform the physical requirements of the alleged “job offer.” 
Employee argued that his PA and Dr. Barrington, respectively, predicted he would and did suffer a PPI from this injury.  He argued these opinions were sufficient evidence to support the RBA determination under AS 23.30.041(f)(4).  Consequently, he argued, under AS 23.30.041(e) & (f) he is eligible for reemployment benefits, and the RBA decision was not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.  Alternately, Employee agreed to attend and requested an SIME on the PPI dispute.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. TIMELINESS.


AS 23.30.041(d) provides in part:
(d) . . . Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110.  The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The Board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.

AS 23.30.110(c) states in pertinent part:

(c) Before a hearing is scheduled, the party requesting a hearing shall file a request for a hearing together with an affidavit stating that the party has completed all necessary discovery, obtained necessary evidence, and is prepared for the hearing. . . .

We first find Employer timely filed a petition appealing the RBA Designee’s decision to the Board on May 29, 2008.
  We further find Employer timely requested a hearing by filing an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on their appeal petition on that same date.
  Gianni v. Craig Pfeifer Construction Co.
 

II.
STANDARD OF REVIEW.


Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) we must uphold the RBA’s decision absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  Several definitions of the phrase “abuse of discretion” appear in Alaska law although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”  Sheehan v. University of Alaska;
 Tobeluk v. Lind.
  An agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.  Manthey v. Collier;
 Black’s Law Dictionary 25 (4th ed. 1968).


The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides another definition for use by courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those above and expressly includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.  

AS 44.62.570.


On appeal to the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission and the courts, our decision reviewing the RBA’s determination is subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard of AS 44.62.570 incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA eligibility determination.  While applying a substantial evidence standard a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services.

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our prior decisions.
  Nevertheless, under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence if the party offering that evidence failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  In the instant case, we find Employer’s representatives approached Ms. Sakata with information concerning Employee’s relevant 10-year work history, attempting to challenge Employee’s eligibility before the RBA Designee made her determination.  We find the employer exercised reasonable diligence, and we will consider the evidence presented concerning the additional employment history.
 

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.  Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc.
  If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we conclude that the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and for necessary action.


III.
ELIGIBILITY FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS UNDER AS 23.30.041.

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e) An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles’ for:

(1) the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.’

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

(1) the employer offers employment within the employee’s predicted post-injury physical capacities at a wage equivalent to at least the state minimum wage under AS 23.10.065 or 75% of the worker’s gross hourly wages at the time of injury, whichever is greater, and the employment prepares the employee to be employable in other jobs that exist in the labor market;

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of injury;

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.


This case’s disputes focus on several specific provisions in AS 23.30.041(e) and (f).  We address the parties’ arguments seriatim as numbered in the summary, supra:

1) The RBA Designee’s Reliance On A PA.

Employer argues the RBA Designee abused her discretion by relying upon a PA for predictive opinions necessary for her eligibility determination pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e) and (f).  We reject this argument for several reasons and find no abuse of discretion on this point.  We find the RBA properly instructed his designee that a PA can make these predictions, even though a PA is not specifically enumerated as a “physician” in AS 23.30.395(31).  The following supports our finding:

First, the Alaska Supreme Court in Thoeni
 held a psychologist fits within the definition of “physician” set forth in AS 23.30.395(31).  Notably, the court said:

Because the legislature chose to use the word ‘includes’ rather than more exclusive terms, we interpret the definition as a non-exclusive list.

Thoeni at 1258-1259.

Because “physician” is a non-exclusive list, we hold that a PA working under the supervision of a medical doctor is a “physician” for purposes of AS 23.30.041(e) and (f).  Employer argued in its brief that Thoeni said “[w]e have consistently credited the testimony of psychologists in worker’s compensation cases” and the court firmly held that continuing to do so was the “proper course.”
  We have similarly credited PA’s opinions and see no reason to depart from that practice.

The 2004 Hottman decision which Employer cited as support for its argument was effectively overruled by the court’s 2007 Thoeni decision.  Furthermore, Employer’s attempt to limit the type of physician in cases factually similar to this one that could offer the necessary predictions to “an orthopedist” is unpersuasive.  We have never before under §041 limited a predicting physician’s area of practice to a particular specialty.  Historically, we have seen many different types of medical providers offer valuable services and treatments to injured workers -- including making required §041 predictions.  We also note that many orthopedists also use PAs in their practices.  Lastly, we find in this case Employer used orthopedic surgeon Dr. Soot to comment upon Employee’s eye-glass and denture breakage.

Second, Employee correctly notes that pursuant to AS 23.30.395(3)(D) the phrase “attending physician” includes among others “a licensed physician’s assistant acting under supervision of a licensed medical doctor or doctor of osteopathy.”  We hold that if a physician’s assistant can be an “attending physician” pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a) or (b) he or she can also be a “physician” for purposes of AS 23.30.041(e) or (f).  To hold otherwise would render these statutory provisions incongruous.  We find PA Shortridge works under Dr. Mackie’s supervision.
  We find the RBA Designee’s decision on this point is supported by substantial evidence.  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.
2) The RBA Designee’s Determination That The Employee Was Not Previously Rehabilitated.

Employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion by finding Employee was not “previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim.”  It based this argument on the fact that Employee settled a prior claim in case 200124718, involving his left knee and low back, in a Board-approved C & R on April 3, 2003.  In that case, according to the C & R’s language,
 Employee had been found eligible for vocational rehabilitation benefits.  Employee, unrepresented in that case, then settled his right to make a claim for a compensation rate adjustment, permanent total disability, and all vocational rehabilitation/reemployment or §041 benefits.
  

At hearing Employer’s representative admitted upon Board questioning that he was unaware of any Board decision holding that a claimant’s settlement of a prior worker’s compensation claim, including a waiver of §041 vocational rehabilitation benefits, constituted being “previously rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim” and admitted prior Board precedent was to the contrary.  The Board’s majority finds Employee was not previously rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim.
  We base this finding upon Claimant’s statement to Ms. Sakata that he had not been previously rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim, his testimony before the Board that he had not been rehabilitated in a prior claim, the lack of any evidence that Employee had been previously rehabilitated, and the lack of any legal authority for the proposition that a waiver of vocational rehabilitation equates to being previously rehabilitated.
  The Board finds Employee to be a credible witness.  AS 23.30.122.  

Therefore, the majority holds Employee was not previously rehabilitated in a prior worker’s compensation claim.  Substantial evidence supports the RBA Designee’s finding and she did not abuse her discretion on this point.  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.

3) The RBA Designee’s Finding That There Was No Post-Injury Offer Of Employment.

Employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion in finding there was no post-injury employment offer from Veritas and in not considering this alleged offer as a disqualifying factor pursuant to §041(f)(1).  We find there was no post-injury employment offer meeting §041(f)(1)’s requirements.  Several findings support this conclusion.

First, Ms. Sakata’s eligibility evaluation states Employer “at the time of this injury was contacted and they do not have a modified position for [Employee] at this time.”
  There was no objection to the admissibility of Ms. Sakata’s report, the Board accepts it, gives it significant weight, and finds it persuasive on this point.  AS 23.30.122.  
Second, we find Ms. Sakata’s report supported by an email from Veritas employee Lydia Rollins.  Ms. Rollins stated in her response to Ms. Sakata’s pertinent query concerning whether or not Veritas could offer Employee a modified job: “The short answer is no.  We offered him modified duty when this initially happened and he did not cooperate.  We do not want him back and will have no positions open for anyone very soon since the season is about to shut down.”  We find this email is substantial evidence that Veritas had no modified work for Employee within his predicted post-injury physical capacities.  AS 23.30.041(f)(1).  Though this evidence could be construed as suggesting initially there was a job offer post-injury, we find Veritas’ witness Rick Trupp testified Veritas had offered light duty work to Employee in an “Injury/Illness Management Contract” dated “1/30/07” just six days after Employee’s January 24, 2007 injury.  We find, as he testified, Mr. Trupp was not Employee’s supervisor, did not talk to Ms. Sakata about job opportunities post-injury, and though Employee did not agree to the injury management contract Veritas had no time limit or deadline for him to do so.  Mr. Trupp testified Employee told him he wanted a friend or an attorney to review the contract before he signed it.  We find Employee’s request to have someone else review this contract reasonable.  Most importantly, we find Mr. Trupp further said the contract offered unspecified employment with no specific job title or description that was, at best, brief and was in Mr. Trupp’s words, “short, short term” employment.
  

We do not believe §041’s purposes are met by an employer offering an employee unspecified, temporary employment.  This is not the type of “employment” offer the legislature contemplated as something that would disqualify an injured worker from reemployment benefits pursuant to §041(f)(1).  We find based upon these undisputed facts and the law’s requirements that this contract was therefore not a valid employment offer pursuant to §041(f)(1).

Third, we find Veritas could not have known Employee’s “predicted post-injury physical capacities” for §041(f)(1) purposes just six days post-injury because we find conflicting medical evidence and lack of adequate treatment at that time.  We find on January 29, 2007 Dr. T. Ligus of Dimond Medical Clinic stated Employee had suffered a work-related cervical strain and was “off duty until rechecked on Feb 2 ’07.”
  We find either that same day or the next day (one record shows both dates) Dr. Manwiller saw Employee at the same clinic along with a “representative of Veritas.”  We find Dr. Manwiller referred Employee to PT for his neck and released him to “limited duty work in Anchorage” with a five pound lifting, pushing and pulling limit, bending or twisting not to exceed “2 times per hour,” and avoidance of “sharp turning of head.”
  We find not only are these medical opinions inconsistent, but we also find the physical restrictions Dr. Manwiller placed upon Employee are dramatic and would have prevented Employee from performing virtually all of the activities described in the “injury management contract” he declined to sign.  The law explicitly requires us to use SVP codes and SCODDOT job descriptions and to determine that the “offer” provides employment that prepares Employee for employment within his predicted post-injury physical capacities -- as determined by his physician.   We find those requirements were not met in this instance.
  Because we find there was no identifiable position offered and thus no corresponding SCODDOT job description approved by Employee’s physician, we find there was no valid post-injury employment offer pursuant to §041(f)(1).
Lastly, we find Employee is admittedly not well educated, having been tested at the 6th grade level and having attended only the 9th grade of formal schooling.
  We further find Employee was confused and concerned about the “contract” and sought advice from Board staff who apparently advised him to file a petition for a protective order, treating the contract as an “overbroad release.”
  Therefore, we find Employee was not adequately informed and did not understand the possible, arguable legal ramifications of the contract he was asked to sign six days after his injury.  Richard v. Fireman’s Fund.
  Consequently, in light of the undisputed evidence that Veritas placed no time limit upon Employee to accept or reject this contract, and the fact that we found it was not a valid employment offer under §041(f)(1) in the first instance, we also find Employee did not reject a valid offer of employment pursuant to §041(f)(1).  Substantial evidence supports the RBA Designee’s finding and she did not abuse her discretion on this point.  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.
4) The RBA Designee’s Consideration Of Employee’s 10-Year Work History.

Employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion by failing to consider known employment with other employers not listed in Ms. Sakata’s evaluation pursuant to §041(e)(2).  We agree with Employer.  Employer cited Hooker v. Carr-Gottstein
 and Gardner v. Country Foods
 as support for its argument.  We find the cited cases persuasive.  We find Employer supplied Ms. Sakata with partial evidence of Employee’s relevant employment on February 21, 2008 before the RBA Designee had made her decision.
  We find Ms. Sakata’s report does not include or discuss some of this employment.  We also find Employee discussed his “under-the-table” employment with Ms. Sakata as he testified at hearing.  We have previously found Employee is a credible witness.  AS 23.30.122.  We find Ms. Sakata did not adequately explore Employee’s relevant 10-year work history.  We find the RBA Designee relied upon Ms. Sakata’s report to find Employee eligible for reemployment benefits.  Therefore, we find this reliance was an abuse of discretion because we are left with the firm conviction that a mistake was made
 and the rehabilitation specialist failed to properly apply the controlling law.
  Accordingly, we remand this matter to the RBA Designee for further investigation of Employee’s prior 10-year work history pursuant to §041(e)(2).

We further find Employee struggled at hearing to recall the names of all his relevant employers.  He identified some by their first names only and admitted he may not know the last names of some.  On remand we direct the vocational rehabilitation specialist to carefully and thoroughly interview Employee and reasonably obtain a comprehensive list of his relevant employers using his recollections as well as all other available, reliable sources.  However, we caution the parties that the need to identify all relevant employers during the 10-year period must be balanced against the need to move this evaluation along with alacrity.  We disagree with the inferences drawn from Employer’s argument that §041(e)(2) rigidly requires “the identification of each employer to accurately complete this process.”
  In a perfect world filled with perfect record keeping and recall, 100% identification of all relevant employers is the ultimate goal.  However, as a practical matter the reemployment specialist must make a good faith, thorough effort with Employee’s assistance and with any other assistance offered or available to identify each employer -- if possible.  We find, based upon Employee’s vague recollection of some of his past employers and the likely absence of records in all instances, that 100% identification may not be possible.  On remand we direct the rehabilitation specialist to perform her research on this issue within 30 days of this decision’s date.  Once the reemployment specialist feels confident, within the 30 days we allow or sooner, that she has identified each relevant employer that can reasonably be identified, she must provide her evaluation to the RBA Designee.  

We find this vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation process has been ongoing since Employee made his request on January 3, 2008.
  We find the specialist’s report was not completed until April 1, 2008.
  We find twenty-one days elapsed between the date the report was filed with the Division and the date of the RBA Designee’s letter to Ms. Sakata stating that a physician rather than a PA must make the required predictions.
  We further find another lengthy delay of nearly a month in processing Employee’s request arose from the RBA Designee’s concern over the PA opinion issue.
  Employer correctly noted in its closing argument that there is an evaluation “process” that needs to be followed.  We find the legislature has directed that “[p]rocess and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible.”  AS 23.30.005(h).  
Therefore, we order that on remand an inability through impossibility to identify or locate each and every employer for whom Employee may have worked during the relevant 10-year period cannot form a valid basis to prolong this evaluation indefinitely.
  We direct the RBA Designee to follow any procedures necessary under the Act and the regulations, in her judgment, to complete the record.  We order the specialist on remand to complete the evaluation within 30 days of this decision’s date.  Substantial evidence does not support the RBA Designee’s finding and Employer’s appeal is granted on this point.
5) The Alleged Violation Of AS 23.30.250.

Lastly, Employer argued Employee “concealed” employment within his 10-year work history and thus committed fraud pursuant to AS 23.30.250.
  Employer asked us to so find and levy an appropriate remedy.  We decline to address this argument.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.070(g) states:

(g) Except when the board or its designee determines that unusual and extenuating circumstances exist, the prehearing summary . . . governs the issues and the course of the hearing.

First, we find the §250 defense does not appear in the controlling prehearing summary dated July 10, 2008, in any prior prehearing summary, or in any answer or amended answer.  Therefore, we apply the general rule and hold that the §250 issue was not properly raised and was not properly brought before the Board.   8 AAC 45.070(g).  This particular defense is not the type that is typically heard when not previously raised and thoroughly developed, even under our broad power to conduct our hearings in a manner by which we may best ascertain the parties’ rights.  AS 23.30.135.  We find this defense, if warranted, might result in significant civil or criminal penalties against a claimant.  Therefore, we find this is not a defense that can be raised for the first time in a hearing brief or decided with no prior notice to Employee.
Second, even were we to entertain this defense we would find no evidence Employee had violated §250.  We already found Employee discussed his under-the-table employment with Ms. Sakata.  We find he attempted to provide as much information as he could at that time, from memory.  AS 23.30.122.  We find no evidence of intentional concealment with intent to deceive.

Third, we find at hearing Employee readily admitted he had worked for other employers not included in Ms. Sakata’s evaluation and provided the Board with as many names as he could from his memory.  Again, we find no intent to deceive.  AS 23.30.122.

Fourth, we find Employee readily admitted in his deposition he had worked for himself and others in a “demobbing business” and did basically whatever “it takes to make money.”
  He also admitted he does not file income tax returns.
  Having reviewed Employee’s deposition, we find he was making a good faith effort to recall for whom he worked during the relevant period in response to defense counsel’s questions.
  AS 23.30.122.  Accordingly, for the reasons set forth above, we deny and dismiss Employer’s request for relief pursuant to §250.

6) Employee’s Request For An SIME.

Employee at hearing verbally agreed to and requested an SIME.  Employer’s representative admitted that a medical dispute existed concerning the likelihood of a PPI rating attributable to this injury.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.090(b) states:

(b) Except as provided in (g) of this section, regardless of the date of an employee’s injury, the board will require the employer to pay for the cost of an examination under AS 23.30.095(k), AS 23.30.110(g), or this section.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.092(g)(3) states:

(3) The board will, in its discretion, order an evaluation under AS 23.30.095(k) even if no party timely requested an evaluation under (2) of this subsection if. . . . 
(B) the board on its own motion determines an evaluation is necessary.

There are potentially seven areas of medical dispute in any given claim.  AS 23.30.095(k).  We find the parties agreed at hearing that a medical dispute exists on the PPI issue.  We find a medical dispute exists between Dr. Mackie (and by implication PA Shortridge who practices at the same clinic) and Dr. Barrington, vis-à-vis EME Dr. Soot on the issue of work-related PPI.
  We find the dispute is significant because Dr. Soot said no work-related PPI exists and Dr. Barrington said Employee suffered a 10% work-related PPI conceivably worth as much as $17,700.00 pursuant to AS 23.30.190(a).  We also find medical disputes exist on the issues of: “causation” of Employee’s ongoing symptoms and need for treatment after Dr. Soot’s February 21, 2008 EME,
 “medical stability,”
 and “the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment” after February 21, 2008.
  We charge the Board Designee at prehearing with identifying any other medical disputes.
While we recognize this SIME issue was also not included on any claim or prehearing summary, as contrasted with the §250 defense this is precisely the type of issue we can address sua sponte without either side suffering any prejudice.  AS 23.30.110(g), 135.  We find Employee has pending claims for various benefits.
  Given the newly obtained rating from Dr. Barrington, we suspect Employee’s claim will be amended to include a claim for PPI.  We find these factors “unusual and extenuating circumstances” that warrant an SIME.
  We find we can best ascertain the parties’ rights in respect to Employee’s pending and inchoate claims by ordering an SIME.  Therefore, we order a medical evaluation pursuant to AS 23.30.095(e) to best ascertain the parties’ rights.  AS 23.30.135.   We direct the Board Designee to set a prehearing within 30 days of this decision’s date to facilitate scheduling this SIME. 

Our ordering of an SIME raises a question of what effect, if any, this order may have on the rehabilitation eligibility remand.  This SIME will not delay or suspend the vocational rehabilitation eligibility evaluation on remand.  In Grunwald v. Providence Alaska
 we addressed a dispute under AS 23.30.041(e)(2) between physicians concerning whether or not the employee would be able to return to his work at the time of injury.  Grunwald upheld the RBA’s eligibility determination and declined to suspend reemployment benefits pending an SIME.  This decision was based in part on the legislative intent to provide a quick, efficient, and cost-effective remedy.   AS 23.30.001.   


We agree with Grunwald’s analysis.  We find the RBA Designee in the instant case made her determination at a time when there was a medical dispute over Employee’s PPI, but before an SIME had been requested or ordered.  But we also find AS 23.30.041(d) provides, in part: “Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.”  This provision requires the RBA Designee to make a determination on each of the subsection (e) and (f) criteria within a specific (and relatively short) time frame.  We find the RBA Designee reasonably followed the plain and mandatory wording of §041(d) and we conclude the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in deciding the employee’s eligibility within the time limits of AS 23.30.041(d).  Similarly, on remand the RBA Designee shall not wait for the results of an SIME, which may take months to accomplish, but will render her decision within 14 days of the date she receives the specialist’s report.  AS 23.30.041(d).
In summary, we are constrained to apply the relevant provisions of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, the workers’ compensation regulations, and the applicable case law.  See, Justus v. Ketchikan Pulp Company.
  By a preponderance of the available evidence, we find the RBA Designee relied on substantial evidence, and proceeded reasonably and in accord with the statutory requirements, on all issues presented in §041(e) and §041(f) with exception of the requirements of §041(e)(2).  We conclude there is an abuse of discretion in this eligibility evaluation pursuant to the requirements of §041(e)(2).  We overturn that part of the RBA Designee’s decision and we remand for further action in accordance with this decision.  The rest of the RBA Designee’s decision remains in effect.
ORDER
1) The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion by relying upon a physician assistant’s predictive opinions concerning Employee’s permanent physical capacities and potential permanent partial impairment pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e) & (f)(4).  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.

2) The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in concluding Employee was not previously rehabilitated in a prior workers’ compensation claim pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(3).  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.

3) There was no valid employment offer pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(1) and the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion by finding no post-injury offer of light duty employment pursuant to AS 23.30.041(f)(1).  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.

4) Substantial evidence did not support the accuracy of Employee’s 10-year work history pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e)(2) and the RBA Designee abused her discretion by relying upon an incomplete work history in her eligibility determination.  On this point Employer’s petition is granted and the matter is remanded to the RBA Designee for further action in accordance with this decision.

5) Employer’s §250 defense was not properly raised and was not properly before the Board.  Employer’s appeal on this point is denied and dismissed.

6) We order an SIME on all medical issues in dispute in accordance with this decision, charge the Board Designee with identifying any additional §095(k) disputes, and direct the Board Designee to set a prehearing conference within 30 days of this decision’s date to facilitate scheduling.

7) On remand the rehabilitation specialist shall complete the eligibility evaluation and submit her recommendation to the RBA Designee within 30 days from this decision’s date, and the RBA Designee will issue her decision, in accordance with AS 23.30.041(d).

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 1st day of October, 2008.



ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



William J. Soule, Designated Chairman



___________________________________



Tony Hansen, Member

PARTIAL DISSENT OF MEMBER DON GRAY

I respectfully dissent from my colleagues’ opinions on the issue of whether or not Employee was “previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim.”  I would find that Employee forfeited his rights to benefits under §041(f)(2) in this case by his acceptance of a settlement in his prior worker’s compensation case, which included funds for settlement of his benefits under §041 of the Act as it existed at the time of his 2001 injury.  In all other respects I concur with this decision.



___________________________________



Don Gray, Member

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  

CERTIFICATION
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of George S. Stackhouse, employee / appellee; v. C.G.G. Veritas Services Holding, Inc., employer; New Hampshire Insurance Co., and Northern Adjusters, insurer / appellants; Case No. 200701487, dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 1st day of October, 2008.

           _____________________

                             


Robin Burns, Administrative Clerk
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� We do not in this decision reach the argument that Dr. Barrington’s PPI rating resulted from an unlawful change of physician pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a) because it is not crucial to our decision.  Furthermore, pursuant to Guys With Tools Ltd. v. Thurston, AWCAC Decision No. 06-0323 (November 8, 2007) the Board could consider this report even if, arguendo, it was obtained in violation of AS 23.30.095(a).  In Guys With Tools the commission rejected a long-time Board practice of excluding medical evidence obtained in violation of AS 23.30.095.  The commission held in such cases the “remedy is not exclusion from the record” because of the Act’s desire to make Board proceedings “as summary and simple as possible” and lack of the Board’s need to be bound by “common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure.”  See Guys With Tools at 21-22; citing 8 AAC 45.120(e), AS 23.30.005(h), and AS 23.30.135(a).
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� We find that according to the limited language in the C & R there did not appear to be a bonafide dispute between the parties in case 200124718.  In other words, though Employer in that case argued in the C & R that Employee could return to his work at the time of his injury, there is no indication that Employer ever appealed the RBA’s determination of eligibility in that case.  It appears the parties simply decided Employee would accept and Employer would pay an agreed-upon amount in exchange for a limited waiver of benefits, including those under §041.


� See dissent of member Don Gray.


� We find unanimously that Ms. Sakata’s eligibility determination report could have and should have contained more detailed research, evaluation, and support for her findings.


� See “Eligibility Evaluation” at 3.


� We take judicial notice of, and find, that the Division provides form “07-6151” styled “Offer of Alternate Employment” which sets forth with specificity the parameters of a bonafide job offer for purposes of §041(f)(1).  It also provides the format for the reemployment specialist to verify that a bonafide job was indeed offered that prepares the injured worker for employment in jobs that exist in the labor market and is approved by his attending physician.  None of these requirements were met in this case.  The “offer” in this case was made well before a rehabilitation specialist had even been assigned to the case.
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� We further find from Employee’s hearing testimony that he has labored for most of his life in work that generally speaking was heavy, physical labor.  We find much of his relevant employment was extremely short term.  We foresee difficulty in the reemployment specialist locating the employers and determining exactly what Employee did for them and translating that into a SCODDOT form usable by Employee’s attending physician.  
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� See Dr. Mackie report dated May 15, 2008 and Dr. Soot report dated February 21, 2008.


� Dr. Soot said it was no longer caused by the work injury; see page 5 of his report.  PA Shortridge continued to treat Employee for this injury; see his report dated March 5, 2008.  Dr. Barrington also implied more treatment for the right shoulder might be needed; see his July 21, 2008 report at page 4.


� Dr. Soot said Employee was medically stable on February 21, 2008; see his report of that date on page 6.  Dr. Barrington said Employee was stable and ratable on July 21, 2008; see his report of that date at page 3.
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